

August 27, 2018

**PORT PLACE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION
DECLARATION OF TRUST**

Deleted: January 25,

THIS DECLARATION OF TRUST is made on this ____ day of ____, 2018, by Evergreen Commons LLC, 487 Groton Road, Suite A, Westford, MA 01886 (referred to hereinafter as the "Declarant" or the "Trustee" or "Trustees", which term and any pronoun referring thereto shall be deemed to include his or their successors in trust hereunder and to mean the Trustee or the Trustees for the time being hereunder, wherever the context so permits) owner of the property located at 18 Boyd Drive and 5 Brown Avenue, Newburyport known as the Port Place by Evergreen Commons Definitive Subdivision said definitive plan being recorded in Plan Book 464, Plan 53 on March 7, 2018, in the Essex South Registry of Deeds (the "Subdivision" or the "Plan") by deeds dated March 6, 2018 and recorded in said registry at Book 36573, Page 88 and dated March 6, 2018, and recorded in said registry at Book 36573, Page 92, respectively.

Deleted: 7

ARTICLE I - Name of Trust

The Trust hereby created shall be known as the **Port Place Homeowners Association Trust** (the "Trust" or "Association").

Deleted: ____

Deleted: ____

Deleted: _____

Deleted: 7

Deleted: _____,

Deleted: 7

Deleted: ____

Deleted: ____

Deleted: _____,

Deleted: 7

Deleted: ____

Deleted: ____

ARTICLE II - The Trust and Its Purposes

2.1 **General Purposes.** All of the rights and powers in, to and with respect to the land and the Common Areas and Facilities (of the Port Place by Evergreen Commons Subdivision and any and all other rights and powers conferred upon or exercisable by the Trust, and all property, real and personal, tangible and intangible, conveyed to the Trustees hereunder shall vest in the Trustees as joint tenants, with right of survivorship, as Trustees of this Trust, BUT IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, to exercise, manage, administer and dispose of the same and to receive the income thereof for the benefit of the owners of record from time to time (the "Owners," "Lot Owners" or "beneficiaries") of the lots shown as on the Subdivision as "Lot 1, Lot 2, Lot 3, Lot 4, Lot 5, Lot 6, Lot 7, Lot 8, Lot 9, Lot 10, Lot 11, Lot 12, Lot 13, Lot 14, Lot 15, Lot 16, Lot 17, Lot 18, Lot 19, Lot 20, Lot 21, Lot 22, Lot 23, Lot 24, Lot 25, Lot 26, Lot 27, Lot 28, Lot 29, Lot 30, Lot 31, Lot 32, Lot 33, Lot 34, Lot 35, Lot 36, Lot 37, Lot 38" (singly, a "Lot," and, collectively, the "Lots"). All Lots contain single family dwellings or may accommodate a single family dwelling. Additionally, there are the Open Space parcels consisting of 22.816 acres shown on the Plan which shall be known as the "Common Area". There are also roads and infrastructure within those roads such as water, sewer and storm drains which shall be referred to as the "Common Infrastructure". "Facilities" shall mean all Common Infrastructure, stormwater systems, roadways, utilities and lighting as long as said Facilities are owned by the Association.

The purpose of the Association is to take responsibility, in perpetuity, for the upkeep, maintenance, and repair of the Common Area and Facilities and to provide common services to its owners, from time to time as the Owners determine necessary and convenient i.e. lawn maintenance and snow removal service. The Common Area is to serve as Open Space and Recreational Space for the Association and shall be open to the public.

It is hereby expressly declared that a Trust, and not a Partnership, has been hereby created and that the Lot Owners are beneficiaries and not partners or associates or any other relation whatever among themselves with respect to the trust property and that they hold no relation to the Trustees other than as such beneficiaries, with only such rights as are conferred upon them as such beneficiaries hereunder.

ARTICLE III - The Trustees

3.1 Initial Board; Subsequent Trustees; Number of Trustees. The initial Trustee shall be **Evergreen Commons LLC** (hereinafter called the "Initial Trustee"). The Initial Trustee shall serve as sole Trustee up until the earlier of (i) Five (5) years from the date this Declaration is recorded with the Registry, and (ii) when the Declarant has conveyed 75% of the Lots, or such earlier time as the Declarant may determine, in its sole discretion, by giving written notice thereof to all then Lot Owners (the "Initial Term"). The Declarant may also remove and replace the Initial Trustee at any time and for any reason during the Initial Term. Notwithstanding any other term or provision of this Trust to the contrary, the Lot Owners shall have no power or right to remove the Initial Trustee or to appoint any additional or successor Trustees until the expiration of the Initial Term as set forth above.

The Original Trustee shall resign on the expiration of the Initial Term and the Lot Owners shall elect a Board of Trustees of the Trust consisting of at least three (3) persons or five (5) persons. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Original Trustee may not resign until the new Trustees are appointed and said appointment is recorded. Written notice of said resignation and new appointment shall be provided to the City of Newburyport Conservation Commission and Planning Board. In the event there are three members, the initial three members shall be elected, one for a three year term, one for a two year term and one for a one year term. Should five (5) members be elected, three shall be elected to a three year term, one for a two year term and one for a one year term. The persons so elected shall be owners of Lots elected by the Owners holding at least fifty one percent (51%) of the beneficial interest of the Trust. Appropriate notices of the resignation of the prior Trustee(s) and the identity of the new Trustee(s) shall be recorded with the Registry. Any new Trustee filling the vacancy left after a resignation of a Trustee shall fill the remainder of the term of the resigning Trustee. Aside from the initial term, the terms of office of the Trustees so elected shall be two (2) year(s), with the first term beginning on the expiration of the Initial Term.

At each annual meeting of the Trust following the expiration of the Initial Term, there shall be elected as Trustees hereunder such number of persons as shall be necessary to fill all vacancies then occurring in the office of Trustee hereof by virtue of expiration of terms of office, resignation or otherwise.

If for any reason any vacancy in the office of Trustee shall continue for more than sixty (60) days after the occurrence of such vacancy and shall at the end of that time remain unfilled, a Trustee or Trustees to fill such vacancy or vacancies may be appointed by any court of competent jurisdiction upon the application of any Trustee hereunder or any Lot Owner and upon notice to all Trustees and to such other, if any, parties in interest to whom the court may direct

August 27, 2018

Deleted: January 25,

that notice be given. The foregoing provisions of this Section to the contrary notwithstanding, despite any vacancy in the office of Trustee, however caused and for whatever duration, the remaining or surviving Trustees shall continue to exercise and discharge all of the powers, discretion and duties hereby conferred or imposed upon the Trustees.

3.2 Actions by Trustees. In any matters relating to the administration of the Trust hereunder and the exercise of the powers hereby conferred (a) each Trustee shall have one (1) vote, and (b) the Trustees may act by a majority vote at any duly called meeting at which a quorum is present and a quorum shall consist of a majority of the Trustees. The Trustees may also act without a meeting if a written assent thereto is signed by the Trustees then in office. Any matter as to which the Trustees then in office shall be unable to decide by a majority vote shall be referred to and decided by arbitration in accordance with the then rules of American Arbitration Association. The Trustees shall maintain a written record of all of their actions.

3.3 Resignation and Removal of Trustees. Any Trustee may resign by notice in writing given to each of his co-Trustees and by recording with said Registry of Deeds or filing with said Registry District, as the case may be, at any time an instrument in writing signed and acknowledged by him.

A Trustee may be removed from office with or without cause by a vote of Lot Owners holding at least sixty percent (60%) of the beneficial interest of the Trust. A certificate signed by a majority of the Lot Owners, when recorded in the Registry of Deeds, shall be conclusive evidence of the action taken at such meeting.

3.4 Compensation of Trustees. No Trustee shall receive compensation for his services hereunder, but shall be entitled to reimbursement for all reasonable and necessary expenses paid or incurred in connection with his/her services as Trustee.

35 No Liability if in Good Faith. No Trustee shall be personally liable or accountable or be deprived of compensation by reason of any action taken, suffered or omitted in good faith, or for allowing one or more of the other Trustees to have possession of the Trust books or property, or by reason of honest errors of judgment, mistakes of fact or law, the existence of any personal or adverse interest, or by reason of anything except his own willful malfeasance and default.

3.6 Self-Dealing. No Trustee shall be disqualified by his/her office from contracting or dealing with the Trustees, or with one or more of the Lot Owners as vendor, purchaser or otherwise, nor shall any such dealing, contract or arrangement entered into in respect of this Trust in which any Trustee shall be in any way interested be avoided, nor shall any Trustee so dealing or contracting or being so interested be liable to account for any profit realized by any such dealing, contract or arrangement by reason of such Trustee's holding office or of the fiduciary relation hereby established, provided the Trustee shall act in good faith and shall disclose the nature of his interest in writing before any such dealing, contract or arrangement is entered into.

August 27, 2018

Deleted: January 25,

3.7 Indemnity. To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, the Trustees and each of them shall be entitled to indemnity out of the trust property against any liability incurred by them or any of them in the execution of their duties hereof, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, liabilities in contract and in tort and liabilities for damages, penalties, and fines.

3.8 Duty of Trustee. The purpose of this Trust and the principal duty of the Trustees shall be to maintain and preserve in good repair and condition the Common Areas and Facilities of the Trust.

3.9 Meeting of Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees shall meet annually on the first Thursday in December or such other date as the Trustees shall select, provided that notice of such other date is given to all Trustees and all Lot Owners at least 30 days prior to such other date as is selected. Other meetings may be called by any Trustee and in such other manner as the Trustees may establish, provided, however, that written notice of each meeting stating the place, day and hour thereof shall be given at least four (4) days before such meeting to each member of the Board of Trustees.

ARTICLE IV - Beneficiaries and Beneficial Interest

4.1 Beneficial Interest. The beneficiaries shall be the Owners of the Lots shown on the Plan. The Owners of each Lot shall each have a one-thirty-eighth (1/38) interest in the Common Area and Facilities and other Trust property, and be entitled to one-thirty-eighth (1/38) vote each. Such interests shall be stated in the deed for each Lot. The beneficial interest of each Lot Owner in the Common Area and Facilities and other Trust property shall be inseparable from ownership of the Lot and may not be conveyed, transferred or in any way alienated or separated from said Lot and shall be deemed appurtenant to each Lot. A person shall become a beneficiary automatically upon becoming a Lot Owner and shall cease to be a beneficiary automatically upon ceasing to be such an owner.

4.2 Persons to Vote as Unit Owners. Whenever any of said Lots is owned of record by more than one person, the several owners of such Lot shall (a) determine and designate which one of such owners shall be authorized and entitled to cast votes, execute instruments, act as Trustee, and otherwise exercise the rights appertaining to such Lot hereunder; and (b) notify the Trustee of such designation by a notice in writing signed by all the record owners of such Lot. Any such designation shall take effect upon receipt by the Trustee of such notice, and may be changed at any time and from time to time by notice as aforesaid. In the absence of any such notice of designation, the Trustee may designate any one of such owners for such purposes or disqualify all of such owners from voting until a notice of designation is received from such owners in the required form. The forgoing notwithstanding, the obligation to pay any assessment or other charge imposed by the Trustees against a Lot shall be joint and several amongst the Lot Owners and their respective estates.

ARTICLE V - Bylaws

The provisions of this ARTICLE V shall constitute the Bylaws of this Trust to wit:

5.1 **Powers of the Trustees.** For the purpose of carrying out the terms of this Trust, the Trustees shall have all powers and duties necessary for administration of the Common Areas and Facilities and other Trust property, including without limitation the following obligations, powers and duties which may be exercised by the Trustee without any action or consent by the Lot Owners and which shall continue after the termination of the Trust for the purpose of disposing of the Trust property and until final disposition thereof:

- (i) to maintain, repair, improve, develop or preserve the Trust property, real or personal, including, without limitation, the Common Areas and Facilities;
- (ii) to open bank accounts in the name of the Trust or Trustee and to appoint Trustees or other delegates to draw on such accounts;
- (iii) to borrow money in the name of the Trust and to give security for the repayment of the same;
- (iv) to adopt, amend and rescind reasonable rules and regulations governing the details of the operation, use and maintenance of the Common Areas and Facilities and any other Trust property. The initial Rules and Regulations are attached hereto;
- (v) to make contracts and other agreements in the name of this Trust which the Trustees deem convenient to the performance of its duties, including any contract for the operation and maintenance of the Common Area and Facilities;
- (v) to bring suit in the name of the Trust and to compromise or submit to arbitration any claim or matter and to meet any and all legal obligations with respect to the Trust;
- (vi) to buy, sell, convey, mortgage, pledge, lease, rent, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of or encumber any property, real, personal and/or otherwise upon the determination by the Trustees that such action is in furtherance of the Trust purposes;
- (vii) to accept, convey, swap and grant easements, permanent and temporary, licenses and other lesser interests in real property for the installation, maintenance, repair and replacement of utilities, drainage structures and rights incidental thereto;
- (viii) to hire, retain and/or employ individuals, professional or non-professional, to assist the Trustees in their administration of this Trust and to assist in carrying out its terms and intent;
- (ix) to exercise any other powers which may be necessary or desirable for carrying out the terms of the Trust or which the Trustees may have under any present or future statute, regulation or rule of law or which may be required of the Trustee as title holder of the personal and real property of the Trust; and to execute and deliver all appropriate instruments in connection therewith; and

August 27, 2018

(x) to enforce the obligations of the Lot Owners for all matters hereunder and including conformance with the requirements of any Special Permits and/or Orders of Conditions or the Conservation Restriction applicable to the Lots and the Common Area and Facilities including the right to assess fines for non-compliance and doing anything and everything else necessary and proper for the sound management of the Association.

Deleted: January 25,

(xi) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Initial Trustee may, convey, grant easements in, or otherwise transfer or reconfigure the Common Area to reduce or increase the size thereof, so long as the Initial Trustee provides notice of its action to the Lot Owners within a reasonable period of time following its actions and only so long as any such changes are in conformance with any Special Permits, Subdivision Approval and/or Order of Conditions, or the Conservation Restriction applicable to the Property.

(xii) to do all of the forgoing in full compliance with the Special Permit issued by the City of Newburyport Planning Board on March 15, 2017, and recorded at Book 36573, and Page 94, in the Essex South Registry of Deeds, the Subdivision Approval issued by the City of Newburyport on January 30, 2018, and recorded at Book 36573, and Page 115, in the Essex South Registry of Deeds the Special Permit for the Water Resource Protection District on January 30, 2018, and recorded at Book 36573, and Page 128 in the Essex South Registry of Deeds, the Minor Modification issued on April 18, 2018 and recorded in Book 36694 Page 83 in the Essex South Registry of Deed, the Minor Modification issued on August 15, 2018 and recorded in Book 36967 Page 439 in the Essex South Registry of Deeds and the Orders of Conditions issued by the City of Newburyport Conservation Commission on February 6, 2018, and recorded at Book 36573, and Page 141, in the Essex South Registry of Deeds, the Declaration of Restriction dated March 6, 2018 and recorded at Book 36573, and Page 163, in the Essex South Registry of Deeds.

Deleted: __

Deleted: ____

Deleted: _____, 2017

Deleted: __

Deleted: ____

Deleted: _____,

Deleted: 7

Deleted: __

Deleted: ____

Deleted: _____,

Deleted: 7

Deleted: __

Deleted: ____

Deleted: Conservation

Deleted: _____

Deleted: __

Deleted: ____

5.2 Authority to Assess. The Trustees, in order to maintain the Common Areas and Common Infrastructure and to carry out the purposes of the Trust as set forth in Sections 2.1 and 3.9, shall make assessments upon the Lot Owners for the common expenses of the Association. Such assessments, and the total budget and expenditures of the Trust, shall expressly include any and all expense and charges related to the operation, maintenance, repair and replacement of the Common Areas and Common Infrastructure and monitoring the Conservation Restriction. There shall be an initial contribution of \$438,00 to be paid into the Trust at the time each Lot is conveyed from the Declarant for the purpose of reimbursing the Declarant for initial account funding as noted below and \$270.00 to be paid as the initial contribution to the Home Owners Association Monthly Assessment.

Deleted: ____

The Declarant has established initial accounts in the following amounts and for the following purposes: a. Open Space Maintenance Fund: \$5,000.00. b. Stormwater Management Systems Maintenance Fund: \$6,000.00, c. Landscaping & Lawn Maintenance Fund. \$3,000.00 and the annual Conservation Restriction Monitoring fund \$2,500.00.

At the closing of the initial sale of each lot, the Buyer shall be required to pay two months of Home Owners Association Fees as assessed by the Declarant. One month shall be

August 27, 2018

paid to the Declarant to reimburse the Declarant for the initial account funding in the immediately preceding paragraph and one month shall be paid into the fund reserve account.

Deleted: January 25,

Each Lot Owner, by accepting a deed to any Lot, covenants to pay to the Trust any assessments established by the Trust, including any initial contribution and annual or monthly contributions. One-thirty-eighth (1/38) of the cost of maintaining the Common Areas and Facilities including Common Infrastructure and Conservation Restriction Monitoring shall be borne by the owner of each Lot in the subdivision. The recording of a statement by the Trustees indicating a Lot Owner's name, the location of the property and the Lot Owner's title reference shall be sufficient to give the Trustees a lien against the property described in an amount equal to the charges set forth in the statement. Any person relying on a statement signed and acknowledged by a Trustee and duly recorded in the Registry as to the amount of any outstanding charge or the fact there is no outstanding charge shall be fully protected. Each such assessment, together with such interest thereon and costs of collection, shall also be the personal obligation of the Lot Owner.

At least thirty (30) days prior to the commencement of each fiscal year of the Trust, the Trustees shall estimate the common expenses expected to be incurred during such fiscal year, together with reasonable provision for reserves, and shall determine the assessment to be made for that fiscal year. The Trustees shall promptly furnish copies of the budget and render statements to the Lot Owners for the respective shares of such assessment, and each Lot Owner thereafter shall pay such amount in full within sixty (60) days after the notice from the Trustees. The Trustees shall not be obligated to render monthly assessments. In the event that the Trustees shall determine that an assessment so made is less than the common expenses actually incurred, or reasonably expected to be incurred, including but not limited to provisions for proper reserve funds, the Trustees shall make a supplemental assessment(s) and render statements therefore in the manner aforesaid, and such statements shall be payable and shall take effect as set forth in such statements. The Trustees may in their discretion provide for payments of such supplemental assessment statements in monthly or other installments. The Trustees shall have the authority and the duty to levy and enforce the collection of general and special assessments for common expenses.

The amount of each statement for regular or supplemental assessments, together with interest thereon, if not paid when due, together with all costs and expenses, including attorneys' fees, incurred by the Trustees in any proceeding brought to collect such unpaid common expenses and assessments, delinquent fees, charges, penalties and interest charged to a delinquent Lot Owner, shall constitute a lien on the Lot. Such amount shall also constitute a personal debt of the Owner who is the owner of such Lot on the date of the assessment by the Trustees. The Trustees shall take prompt action to collect any common expenses and assessments due from any Lot Owner that remain unpaid for more than thirty (30) days from the due date thereof. If the common expenses and/or assessment is not paid within said thirty (30) day-period, the amount of the unpaid common expenses and/or assessment shall bear interest from the date due at the highest rate allowed by law, and the Trustees may, seven (7) days after giving written notice to an institutional mortgagee, if any, holding a mortgage covering the Lot in question, bring an action at law against the Owner to collect amounts due or bring an action to foreclose the lien against such Lot and the improvements thereon. There shall be added to the amount of such common expense and/or assessment the costs of preparing and filing the

~~August 27, 2018~~

complaint in such action; and in the event a judgment is obtained, such judgment shall include interest as provided above and reasonable attorney's fees together with the costs of the action and any other collection costs.

Deleted: January 25,

In the event the Trustee fails to maintain any portion of the Trust Property in reasonable order and condition, in accordance with the terms and conditions at forth in the Open Space Residential Subdivision Special Permit dated March 15, 2017 or the Definitive Subdivision Approval dated ~~January 30, 2018~~, or the Water Resource Protection District Special Permit dated ~~January 30, 2018~~, the Order of Conditions dated ~~February 6, 2018~~, or the or the Declaration of Restriction, the City of Newburyport by and through the Zoning Code Enforcement Officer, may serve written notice of such failure upon the Trustee or Lot Owners and shall include a demand for correction within a reasonable time period of the delivery of such notice and shall state the date, time and place of a hearing thereof which shall be held within thirty (30) days of the notice.

Deleted: _____,

Deleted: 7

Deleted: _____,

Deleted: 7

Deleted: _____

Deleted: Conservation

Deleted: _____

Deleted: _____

If the deficiencies are not corrected or the City's demand modified, the City, acting through its Department of Public Services, may, but shall not be required to, enter upon the Trust Property and maintain the same for a period of up to one (1) year. Before the expiration of one (1) year, a second public hearing shall be held by the Zoning Code Enforcement Officer, at which time the Trustee or the Lot Owners shall show cause why such maintenance should not continue for a succeeding year. If the Zoning Code Enforcement Officer determines that the need for the City maintenance no longer exists, the City shall cease to maintain the Trust Property. Reasonable costs incurred by the City shall be assessed against the Trust and/or the Lot Owners and shall become a lien on all lots which may be collected and enforced by any remedy available under the law, unless paid within thirty (30) days. The City by and through Zoning Code Enforcement Officer shall have the right to enforce this provision.

Deleted: _____

Deleted: _____

Deleted: _____

Deleted: _____

5.3 Meetings of Lot Owners. There shall be an annual meeting of the Lot Owners on the first Monday of March in each year at 7:30P.M., or such other date as the Trustees shall select, provided that notice of such other date is given to all Trustees and all Lot Owners at least 30 days prior to such other date as is selected, at such reasonable place and time as may be designated by the Board of Trustee by notice given to all Lot Owners at least fourteen (14) days prior to the date so designated. Special meetings of the Lot Owners may be called at any time by the Board of Trustees and shall be called by them upon the written request of Lot Owners entitled to more than fifty percent (50%) of the beneficial interest hereunder. Written notice of any such meeting designating the place, day and hour thereof shall be given by the Board of Trustees to the Lot Owners at least fourteen (14) days prior to the date so designated. At the annual meeting of the Lot Owners, the Board of Trustees shall submit reports of the management and finances of the Trust. Whenever at any meeting the Board of Trustees proposes to submit to the Lot Owners any matter with respect to which approval of or action by such owners is necessary or appropriate, the notice of such meeting shall so state and reasonably specify such matter.

Every notice to any Owner required under the provisions hereof, or which may be deemed by the Trustee necessary or desirable in connection with the business of the Trust created hereby or which may be ordered in any judicial proceeding shall be deemed sufficient and binding if a written or printed copy of such notice shall be given by one or more of the Trustees to said Owner by leaving such notice with him at his residence or by mailing it, postage

August 27, 2018

Deleted: January 25,

prepaid, and addressed to such Owner at his address as it appears upon the records of the Trustees, at least seven (7) days prior to the date fixed for the happening of the matter, thing or event of which such notice is given.

The Lot Owners shall maintain a written record of their meetings.

The Lot Owners shall have the authority to remove the Trustee(s) as set forth in section 3.3 herein.

ARTICLE VI - Rights and Obligations of Third Parties Dealing with the Trustees

6.1 Dealing With Trustees. No purchaser, mortgagee, lender or other person dealing with the Trustees as they then appear of record in the Registry of Deeds need inquire further as to the persons who are then Trustees hereunder. The receipts of the Trustees for monies or things paid or delivered to them shall be effectual discharges therefrom to the persons paying or delivering the same. No person from whom the Trustees or any one or more of them shall receive any money, property or other credit shall be required to see to the application thereof. No purchaser, mortgagee, lender or other person dealing with the Trustees or with any real or personal property which then is or formerly was trust property shall be bound to ascertain or inquire as to the existence or occurrence of any event or purpose in or for which a sale, mortgage, pledge or charge is herein authorized or directed, or otherwise as to the purpose or regularity of any of the acts of the Trustees purporting to be done in pursuance of any of the provisions or powers herein contained.

6.2 Recourse Against Trustees. No recourse shall at any time be had under or upon any note, bond, contract, order, instrument, certificate, undertaking, obligation, covenant or agreement, whether oral or written, made, issued or executed by the Trustees or by any agent or employee of the Trustees or by reason of anything done or omitted to be done by or on behalf of them or any of them against the Trustees individually, or against any such agent or employee or against any beneficiary either directly or indirectly, by legal or equitable proceeding, or by virtue of any suit or otherwise, and all persons extending credit to, contracting with or having any claim against the Trustees, shall look only to the trust property for payment under such contract or claim or for the payment of any debt, damage, judgment or decree or of any money that may otherwise become due or payable to them from the Trustees so that neither the Trustees nor the beneficiaries, present or future, shall be personally liable therefore.

6.3 Instruments Subject to Trust Terms. Every note, bond, contract, order, instrument, certificate, undertaking, obligation, covenant or agreement, whether oral or written, made, issued or executed by the Trustees or any two or more of them or by any agent or employee of the Trustees shall be deemed to have been entered into subject to the terms,

August 27, 2018

Deleted: January 25,

conditions, provisions and restrictions hereof, whether or not express references shall have been made to this instrument.

6.4 Certifications by Trustees for Recording. This Declaration of Trust and any amendments hereto and any certificate herein required to be recorded or filed and any other certificate signed or sworn to by said Trustees or any two or more of them which it may be deemed desirable to record or file may be recorded or filed, as the case may be, with the Registry and such record shall be deemed conclusive evidence of the contents and effectiveness thereof according to the tenor thereof; and all persons dealing in any manner whatsoever with the Trustees, the trust property or any beneficiary hereunder shall be held to have notice of any alteration or amendment of this Declaration of Trust, or change of Trustee or Trustees, when the same shall be recorded or filed with said Registry. Any certificate signed by the Trustees in office at the time setting forth as facts any matter affecting the Trust, including statements as to who are the beneficiaries, as to what action has been taken by the beneficiaries, and as to matters determining the authority of the Trustees to do any act, when duly acknowledged and recorded or filed with said Registry shall be conclusive evidence as to the existence of such alleged facts in favor of all third persons, including the Trustees, acting in reliance thereon. Any certificate executed by the Trustees hereunder or, setting forth the existence of any facts, the existence of which is necessary to authorize the execution of any instrument or the taking of any action by the Trustees or any one or more of them, as the case may be, shall, as to all persons acting in good faith in reliance thereon, be conclusive evidence of the truth of the statements made in such certificate and of the existence of the facts therein set forth.

ARTICLE VII - Amendments and Termination

7.1 Amendment of Trust. The Trustees, with the consent in writing of a eighty percent (80%) of the Lot Owners, may at any time and from time to time, amend, alter, add to or change this Declaration of Trust in any manner, provided however, that no such amendment, alteration, addition or change that would (a) render this Trust contrary to or inconsistent with any requirements or provisions of applicable law or any permit or approval issued by a board or officer of the City of Newburyport, or (b) alter, amend or revoke the obligations of the Trustees as set forth in Sections 2.1 and 3.9 hereof.

7.2 Termination of Trust. No termination shall be permitted unless an alternative means of discharging the Trust's obligations under Sections 2.1 and 3.9 has been approved by the Owners.

ARTICLE VIII NOTICE OF WATER RESOURCE PROTECTION DISTRICT AND LIMITATIONS OF USE OF LOTS AND COMMON AREAS

8.1 Notice: The subject property is located above the City of Newburyport's public water supply (an underground aquifer). See Homeowners Association documents, Covenants and Restrictions, as well as the original OSRD Special Permit decision (on record at the Registry of Deeds) for additional information on uses and activities regulated or expressly prohibited in order to protect the public water supply. All activities of the homeowners shall be conducted in a manner which respects and protects the water resource protection district and public water supply.

8.2 **Prohibited Uses:** The Subdivision is located within the Zone II of the Water Resource Protection District. The following uses are prohibited in Zone II:

- 8.2.1. Individual sewage disposal systems.
- 8.2.2. Storage of animal manure unless covered or contained so as to prevent the generation and escape of contaminated runoff or leachate.
- 8.2.3. Earth removal, consisting of the removal of soil, loam, sand, gravel or any other earth material (including mining activities) to within six (6) feet of historical high groundwater as determined from monitoring wells and historical water table fluctuation data compiled by the United States Geological Survey, except for excavations for building foundations, roads, or utility works.
- 8.2.4. Facilities that generate, treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste subject to M.G.L.A. c. 21C and 310 CMR 30.00, except the following:
 - a. Waste oil retention facilities required by M.G.L.A. c. 21C, § 52A.
 - b. Water remediation treatment works approved under 314 CMR 5.00.
- 8.2.5. Treatment works that are subject to 314 CMR 5.00, including privately owned sewage treatment facilities, except the following:
 - a. Replacement or repair of an existing treatment works that will not result in a design capacity greater than the design capacity of the existing treatment works.
 - b. Replacement of existing subsurface sewage disposal system(s) with waste treatment works that will not result in a design capacity greater than the design capacity of the existing sewage disposal system(s).
 - c. Treatment works designed for the treatment of contaminated surface water and groundwater, approved by the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection.
- 8.2.6. Industrial and commercial uses which discharge process wastewater on site.
- 8.2.7. Alteration of any bordering vegetated wetland or isolated vegetated wetland.
- 8.2.8. Incinerators.
- 8.2.9. Storage of liquid petroleum products, except the following:
 - a. Normal household use, outdoor maintenance, and heating of a structure.
 - b. Waste oil retention facilities required by statute, rule, or regulation.
 - c. Emergency generators required by state regulations.
 - d. Treatment works approved under 314 CMR 5.00 for treatment of ground or surface waters.Provided that such storage, listed in items a. through d. above, is in freestanding containers within buildings or above ground with secondary containment adequate to contain a spill the size of one hundred ten (110) percent [of] the container's total storage capacity.
- 8.2.10. Commercial repair, servicing, washing, and rebuilding of vehicles, boats, and other large motorized equipment other than for normal household or farming activities.

August 27, 2018

Deleted: January 25,

8.2.11. Storage of commercial fertilizers, as defined in M.G.L.A. c. 128, § 64, unless such storage is within a structure designed to prevent the generation and escape of contaminated runoff or leachate.

And in addition, the following uses shall be prohibited on the Lots or the Trust Property.

8.2.12. Private Wells including irrigation wells and potable water supply wells.

8.2.13 Discharge of swimming pool water without neutralization in quantities larger than those associated with normal filter backwash cycles. Neutralization shall consist of holding water in the pool for one week prior to discharge without addition of chlorine or bromide to allow chlorine or bromide to dissipate and pH to neutralize. Water shall be tested prior to discharge and demonstrated to have <0.1 ppm of free chlorine and a pH between 6.0 and 8.0.

8.2.14 Pesticide treatments for mosquitos or other pests are prohibited within the wetlands and open space areas of the Conservation Restriction within Zone II.

8.2.15 Lot Owners use of fertilizers or pesticides on their lawn or gardens, unless approved as part of the yearly landscape plan in 9.2. below.

8.2.16 a. Lot Owners shall not increase the impervious area on each individual lot by more than 5% over the conditions of the lot at the time the certificate of occupancy is issued for that lot. b. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following lots shall not increase the impervious area on the lot by more than 2% over the conditions of the lot at the time the certificate of occupancy is issued for that lot: Lots 10, 11, 12 and 13.

This number shall be cumulative over the life of the lot. Swimming pools shall be considered impervious area.

8.2.17 The Home Owners Association shall not increase impervious areas within the Trust Property by more than 5% over the conditions of the Trust Property as of the date of the final "As Built" plan.

ARTICLE IX - Improvements, Care and Maintenance of Common Areas and Lawns

9.1 Landscaping Changes: Prior to any changes to the initial landscaping on each lot the Owner shall be required to present a plan to the Trustees and receive approval of all proposed changes from the Trustees. Said proposal shall be in writing. The Trustees shall have 21 days to review the plan and meet with the Owner as needed. At the end of 21 days, in the event the Trustees do not respond to the Owner, the Owner may proceed with the proposed revisions to the landscaping, so long as all proposed revisions are undertaken in conformance with this document. In the event the Trustees require changes to the plan; the changes shall be incorporated prior to any changes being undertaken by the Owner. At no time may a Lot Owner or Trustee remove or cause to remove any of the boundary markers indicating lot lines and/or

August 27, 2018

open space and conservation areas. In the event a bound is destroyed or otherwise removed, the Association or Lot Owner responsible shall cause same to be replaced in kind forthwith.

Deleted: January 25,

9.2 Single Landscaping and Lawn Care Professional and Use of Chemicals: Notwithstanding any other provision herein to the contrary, the Homeowners Association shall hire a single licensed landscaping and lawn care professional to establish a single program to maintain lawn and other vegetation on each Lot and any Common Area. Any contract with the lawn care professional shall require that each year, on or before February 15, the designated landscaping and lawn care professional shall provide a written copy of the proposed maintenance program to the Conservation Commission for their information at the same time it is provided to the Water and Sewer Commission for its review and then to the City of Newburyport DPS, Water Division for review. The Water and Sewer Commission shall have twenty-one (21) days to provide comments and/or requested modifications to the Homeowners Association and lawn care professional consistent with the parameters of governing documents which shall include the OSRD Special Permit, Water Resource Protection District Special Permit, Subdivision Approval and Order of Conditions. The DPS Water Division may require modifications to the proposed maintenance program for the purposes of protecting the City's public water supply, including but not limited to limitations on the type and quantity of any lawn and landscape care products (including but not limited to herbicides, pesticides, fungicides and/or other chemicals/substances). Application of any such products shall be prohibited for the subsequent year until the DPS Water Division has approved the proposed maintenance program, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld and may be reasonably revised as necessary. The failure of the Water and Sewer Commission to respond or comment within the time frame noted herein, or the failure of the DPS Water Division to respond within 45 days after receipt of said submission shall be deemed an approval of same. The Proposed Maintenance program shall include a signed letter of commitment that the landscaping and lawn care professional agrees to abide in every respect with the approved maintenance program.

9.2.1 Minimum Required Elements of the Annual Landscape Maintenance Plan shall include the following:

- Name of responsible landscaper
- Species selections, mowing and maintenance practices intended to promote turf health and minimize need for pesticides and fertilizers
- Schedule for a broad fertilizer or pesticide applications (should be no more than twice per year for fertilizers and spot/as needed for pesticides).
- Procedure to follow for any follow up spot applications.
- List of allowable products (fertilizers should be organic and phosphorus free except for first year of initial grow-in and pesticides should be low mobility); and
- Lists and descriptions of the quantity and timing of all fertilizers and pesticides used the prior year and any divergences from the past year's anticipated use patterns.
- The plan shall be prepared in general accordance with sustainable lawn care best management practices as described by the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection and the University of Massachusetts.

August 27, 2018

Deleted: January 25,

9.2.2 Intermittent Maintenance or Clean -Up

Notwithstanding the foregoing approved plans, the Homeowner's Association shall be prepared to clean up the aftermath of any highwater event in the Open Space Areas, particularly those areas of active recreational use.

9.3 Maintenance of Driveways and Roadway Infrastructure: The Homeowner's Association shall be responsible for ongoing maintenance of the roadways (including plowing), street lights, and street trees – Common Infrastructure - until such time as the proposed ways are accepted by the City of Newburyport.

No salting may be undertaken on roadways or driveways within the Subdivision without prior written approval from the City of Newburyport DPS Water Division.

Each year, on or before September 15, until City acceptance of the proposed ways, the Homeowners Association or its designated consultant/contractor shall submit a written copy of the proposed snow and ice maintenance program to the Conservation Commission and Planning Board for its information and to the Water and Sewer Commission for its review then to the DPS, Water Division for review and approval and which is consistent with the DPS standard practices for snow plowing and street treatment within Zone II areas. The Water and Sewer Commission shall have twenty-one (21) days to provide comments and/or requested modifications to the Homeowners Association and its contractor consistent with the parameters of the governing documents hereunder. The DPS Water Division may require modifications to the proposed maintenance program for the purposes of protecting the City's public water supply, including but not limited to limitations on the type and quantity of any chemicals/substances to be applied so long as any limitations are consistent with the DPS standard practices for snow plowing and street treatment within Zone II areas. Application of any chemicals/substances shall be prohibited for the subsequent year until the DPS Water Division has approved the proposed maintenance program (revised as necessary) and a signed letter of commitment has been provided to the DPS Water Division that the Homeowners Association or its designated consultant/contractor agrees to abide in every respect with the approved maintenance program. The failure of the Water and Sewer Commission to respond or comment within the time frame noted herein, or the failure of the DPS Water Division to respond within 45 days after receipt of said submission shall be deemed an approval of same.

9.4 Maintenance of Drainage System: The Homeowner's Association shall be responsible for hiring a licensed professional to keep the storm drainage system in a clean and well-functioning condition as approved by the City of Newburyport Planning Board and as set forth in the Definitive Subdivision Plan, and shall do nothing that would alter the drainage patterns or characteristics as indicated on approved Subdivision Plans. Upon acceptance of the proposed roadways by the City of Newburyport, the Homeowners Association responsibility shall be limited to those drainage systems and areas outside of the accepted layout (Right of Way). Said systems shall be maintained in conformance with the Stormwater Management Operation and Maintenance Plan a copy of which is on file with the City of Newburyport Planning Office.

August 27, 2018

Deleted: January 25,

9.5 Maintenance of Street Trees: Street trees within the subdivision shall be drip-watered for two growing seasons following the completion on initial planting. Street trees that do not survive these first two seasons shall be replaced, in-kind, by the Association. On-going maintenance of the street trees shall be the responsibility of the Association until such time as the City of Newburyport accepts the ways as Public Ways.

9.6 Trash and Recycling: The Association and the Owners shall be responsible for engaging their own private licensed trash removal company to service the homes fronting on the subdivision road ways until such time as the City accepts the roadways as Public Ways. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Association may petition the appropriate City officials responsible for trash and recycling services, who in exchange for the appropriate indemnification agreement and access agreement may permit trash and recycling services to be performed by the City of Newburyport agents and/or contractors.

9.7. Conservation Restriction Monitoring: The Common Area is subject to the Conservation Restriction. Annually, before December 15, the Association shall engage a professional experienced in the area of monitoring Conservation Restrictions and stewardship activities and who is independent of the Grantor, to perambulate the Conservation Area as defined in the Conservation Restriction to assure compliance with the terms of the Conservation Restriction. A written report, including the qualifications of the monitoring agent shall be provided to the Newburyport Conservation Commission from the Associations monitoring agent regarding compliance with the Conservation Restriction. Said report shall include, but not be limited to any recommended actions necessary to abate any non-compliance.

ARTICLE X - Miscellaneous

10.1 Trustees' Books, Records. Books, accounts and records of the Trustees shall be open to inspection by any one or more of the Trustees and the Lot Owners at all reasonable times. The Trustees shall as soon as reasonably possible after the close of each fiscal year, submit to the Lot Owners a report of the operations of the Trustees for such year, which report shall include financial statements in such summary form and only in such detail as the Trustees shall deem proper. Any person who has been furnished such report and shall have failed to object thereto by notice in writing to the Trustees given by registered mail within a period of one (1) month of the date of such notice shall be deemed to have assented thereto.

10.2 Signing of Checks. Checks, notes, drafts and other instruments for the payment of money drawn or endorsed in the names of the Trustees or of the trust may be signed by any Trustee, or by any person or persons, to whom such power may at any time or from time to time be delegated. Notwithstanding the above, any check exceeding \$1,000.00 must be signed by two Trustees if the Trust at that time has two Trustees.

10.3 Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Trust shall be the year ending with the 31 day of July or such other date as may from time to time be determined by the Trustees.

10.4 Binding Effect. The rights and obligations herein created and confirmed shall inure to and be binding upon the respective parties, their successors, heirs, representatives and assigns.

10.5 Construction. In the construction hereof, whether or not so expressed, words used in the singular or in the plural, respectively, shall include both the plural and singular; words denoting males include females; and words denoting persons include individuals, entities and quasi-entities, trusts and corporations; unless a contrary intention is to be inferred from or is required by the subject matter or context. The marginal and sectional captions and headings are inserted only for convenience of reference and are not to be taken to be any part hereof or to control or affect the meaning, construction, interpretation, or effect hereof.

10.6 Governing Law. All of the trusts, powers, and provisions herein contained shall take effect and be construed according to the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts in general.

10.7 Invalidity. The invalidity of any provision or part of such provision hereof shall not impair or affect in any manner the remainder hereof or the remainder of such provision or such part of such provision.

10.8 Waiver. No restriction, condition, obligation or provision contained herein (including, but not limited to, the Bylaws hereof) shall be deemed to have been waived by reason of any failure to enforce the same, irrespective of the number or frequency of violations or breaches thereof that may occur.

August 27, 2018

Deleted: January 25,

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, **Evergreen Commons LLC, Trustee** has signed this Port Place by Evergreen Commons Homeowners Declaration of Trust as of the day and year first above written.

Evergreen Commons LLC
By Its Manager

, Trustee

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

Essex, ss.

On this ___ day of _____, 2018, before me, the undersigned Notary Public, personally appeared _____, Trustee who proved to me through satisfactory evidence of identification, which was _____, to be the person whose name is signed on the preceding or attached document, and acknowledged to me that he signed it voluntarily for its stated purpose.

(Official Signature and Seal of Notary)

RULES AND REGULATIONS

Deleted: January 25,

Formatted: Underline

1. Boats, Trailers, Large Vehicles. No travel or boat trailers, boats, commercial vehicles, and no vehicles exceeding 7,000 pounds in weight shall be placed or stored on any lot or any street within the subdivision, except by the Declarant in connection with construction activity within the subdivision. No automobiles shall be parked anywhere within the subdivision except in designated or permitted areas. Parking on or alongside Duffy Drive from Brown Avenue to the intersection at Lot 18 and 32 shall be strictly forbidden, since such parking may obstruct fire and other emergency vehicles from passage thereon.
2. There shall be no noxious or offensive use of a Lot, nor any use which shall cause any offensive odor or loud noise or constitute a nuisance or menace, or be a detriment to the appearance, harmony or good character of the community.
3. All clotheslines and poles, outside television antennae, radio aerials and satellite dishes (which in any event shall not exceed three (3) feet in diameter) shall be situated on a Lot so they are (a) invisible from the roadways; and (b) as much as possible, invisible from neighboring residences within the subdivision.
4. All rubbish, trash and garbage shall be kept in suitable containers, and, except on collection days, shall be kept in enclosed areas that shield such containers from view of the roadways and neighboring residence in the subdivision.
5. No yard or open area on any lot shall be used for the storage or parking of machinery, supplies, materials or equipment, unless such storage or parking is pursuant to permitted construction or reconstruction activities.
6. No parking of any type of all terrain vehicle or trailer, snowmobile or snowmobile trailer, boat or boat trailer, any type of equipment or equipment trailer, earth moving equipment or trailer, recreational vehicle or similar type vehicle shall be permitted on any lot, unless said item(s) are parked or stored in a garage or other structure or otherwise shielded from view, provided however that: (i) such items may be parked for up to a 72 hour period, but in no event more often than one 72 hour period, each month; and (ii) trucks or equipment used to perform construction or reconstruction work on any lot are specifically exempted during the period of such permitted construction or reconstruction. No parking of any unregistered vehicle shall be permitted on any lot.
7. No sign of any kind shall be displayed to the public view on any lot except for signs identifying the residents thereof, political signs and reasonable and customary "for sale" signs.
8. No bulldozer, excavator or cleated vehicle or equipment owned or contracted for by any lot owner shall be unloaded on any roadway or street within the subdivision without first laying out proper protection for the road surface in compliance with industry standards to protect the road surface from damage, and no lot owner shall (unless there is no reasonable alternative) conduct or allow any operation of any such equipment on such roadway or street, or in a manner that results in any damage to any common facilities or common areas including without limitation all bike and pathways, play equipment, fireplaces, pergolas, fields and open space, bridges and water bodies.
9. All prohibited uses and requirements set forth in section 8.2 hereof shall at all times be strictly adhered to and followed including without limitation the following:
 - a. The Subdivision is located within the Zone II of the Water Resource Protection District. The following uses are prohibited in Zone II:

Formatted

August 27, 2018

Deleted: January 25,

- b. Individual sewage disposal systems.
- c. Storage of animal manure unless covered or contained so as to prevent the generation and escape of contaminated runoff or leachate.
- d. Earth removal, consisting of the removal of soil, loam, sand, gravel or any other earth material (including mining activities) to within six (6) feet of historical high groundwater as determined from monitoring wells and historical water table fluctuation data compiled by the United States Geological Survey, except for excavations for building foundations, roads, or utility works.
- e. Facilities that generate, treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste subject to M.G.L.A. c. 21C and 310 CMR 30.00, except the following:
- f. Waste oil retention facilities required by M.G.L.A. c. 21C, § 52A.
- g. Water remediation treatment works approved under 314 CMR 5.00.
- h. Treatment works that are subject to 314 CMR 5.00, including privately owned sewage treatment facilities, except the following:
- i. Replacement or repair of an existing treatment works that will not result in a design capacity greater than the design capacity of the existing treatment works.
- j. Replacement of existing subsurface sewage disposal system(s) with waste treatment works that will not result in a design capacity greater than the design capacity of the existing sewage disposal system(s).
- k. Treatment works designed for the treatment of contaminated surface water and groundwater, approved by the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection.
- l. Industrial and commercial uses which discharge process wastewater on site.
- m. Alteration of any bordering vegetated wetland or isolated vegetated wetland.
- n. Incinerators.
- o. Storage of liquid petroleum products, except the following:
 - i. Normal household use, outdoor maintenance, and heating of a structure.
 - ii. Waste oil retention facilities required by statute, rule, or regulation.
 - iii. Emergency generators required by state regulations.
 - iv. Treatment works approved under 314 CMR 5.00 for treatment of ground or surface waters.
 - v. Provided that such storage, listed in items i. through iv. above, is in freestanding containers within buildings or above ground with secondary containment adequate to contain a spill the size of one hundred ten (110) percent [of] the container's total storage capacity.
- p. Commercial repair, servicing, washing, and rebuilding of vehicles, boats, and other large motorized equipment other than for normal household or farming activities.

Formatted

Formatted

August 27, 2018

q. Storage of commercial fertilizers, as defined in M.G.L.A. c. 128, § 64, unless such storage is within a structure designed to prevent the generation and escape of contaminated runoff or leachate.

Deleted: January 25,

And in addition, the following uses shall be prohibited on the Lots or the Trust Property.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.5", No bullets or numbering

r. Private Wells including irrigation wells and potable water supply wells.

Formatted

s. Discharge of swimming pool water without neutralization in quantities larger than those associated with normal filter backwash cycles. Neutralization shall consist of holding water in the pool for one week prior to discharge without addition of chlorine or bromide to allow chlorine or bromide to dissipate and pH to neutralize. Water shall be tested prior to discharge and demonstrated to have <0.1 ppm of free chlorine and a pH between 6.0 and 8.0.

t. Pesticide treatments for mosquitos or other pests are prohibited within the wetlands and open space areas of the Conservation Restriction within Zone II.

u. Lot Owners use of fertilizers or pesticides on their lawn or gardens, unless approved as part of the yearly landscape plan in 9.2. below.

v. Lot Owners shall not increase the impervious area on each individual lot by more than 5% over the conditions of the lot at the time the certificate of occupancy is issued for that lot. b. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following lots shall not increase the impervious area on the lot by more than 2% over the conditions of the lot at the time the certificate of occupancy is issued for that lot: Lots 10, 11, 12 and 13.

This number shall be cumulative over the life of the lot. Swimming pools shall be considered impervious area.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1", No bullets or numbering

w. The Home Owners Association shall not increase impervious areas within the Trust Property by more than 5% over the conditions of the Trust Property as of the date of the final "As Built" plan.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.5", No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font color: Auto, English (United States)

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Home Owners Association Declaration of Trust to the contrary, the Trustees shall in no event be permitted to amend or modify this Rule No. 9.

10. All structures on each lot shall be maintained in a neat and attractive manner and there shall be no peeling paint, loose or missing doors or exterior trim, or any unrepaired damage or lack of maintenance that materially adversely affects the exterior appearance of any structure.

11. No lot owner shall remove or relocate any granite bound, any sign or other demarcation indicating the location of wetland resource areas wherever located, installed or placed in the subdivision. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Home Owners Association Declaration of Trust to the contrary, the Trustees shall in no event be permitted to amend or modify this Rule No. 10.

12. Short term rentals such as "Air B&B", VRBO, Home Away and the like shall be prohibited.

August 27, 2018

13. No lot owner may keep, house or maintain any farm animal on any lot at any time including but not limited to pigs, sheep, chickens, goats and the like. This prohibition shall not apply to generally accepted domesticated animals such as dogs and cats.

Deleted: January 25,

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.5"

DRAFT